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IN THE COURT OF CHANCERY OF THE STATE OF DELAWARE 

 

 

 

In re General Motors Derivative Litig. 

 

 

 

        

C.A. No.9627-VCG   

 

 

 

 

 

VERIFIED SECOND AMENDED  

 CONSOLIDATED DERIVATIVE COMPLAINT 

 

 

Plaintiffs, Newspaper and Magazine Employees Union and Philadelphia 

Publishers’ Pension Fund, Frank Di Stefano, Paul Nash, Burton Z. Cohan, James 

Boso, John Chevedden, Belle Cohen, Electrical Workers’ Pension Trust Fund For 

The International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers, Local No. 58, First 

Derivative Traders LP, Dr. Robert D. Fouchaux, Paul Perry Revoc. Liv. Trust, 

Claire Rand, Jamie Suprina, and Alan Chopp (“Plaintiffs”) bring this stockholders’ 

derivative complaint for the benefit of nominal party General Motors Company 

(“GM” or the “Company”) against certain present and former members of its 

Board of Directors (the “Board”).  The allegations below are made upon personal 

knowledge as to matters pertaining to Plaintiffs, and upon information and belief as 

to all other matters.  The allegations are based upon a lengthy investigation 

conducted by counsel, which includes, among other things: (a) a review and 
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analysis of documents obtained by means of a request for inspection of books and 

records under 8 Del. C. §220, (“Section 220 Demand”) including over seven 

thousand pages of minutes of meetings of GM’s Board, Board committee minutes, 

Board packages, and handouts (“Board Materials”) produced to counsel for 

Plaintiffs pursuant to a Confidentiality Agreement; (b) internal GM documents 

obtained by others and made the subject of public reports and/or disclosed by 

government entities (e.g., the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration 

(“NHTSA”); (c) press reports concerning the actions and conduct of GM and its 

officers and directors; (d) literature, books and treatises concerning enterprise risk 

management and corporate governance; (e) documents produced during a recent 

Congressional investigation; (f) the Report to the Board of Directors of General 

Motors Company Regarding Ignition Switch Recalls, dated May 29, 2014, 

prepared by Anton R. Valukas (the “Valukas Report” or “VR”); (g) GM’s public 

filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”); and (h) news 

reports, press releases, analysts’ reports, filings in lawsuits brought against GM, 

and other publicly available sources. 

I. INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a stockholders’ derivative action brought by Plaintiffs, on 

behalf of GM, to redress harm to the Company caused by the Director Defendants 
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named below.  The Director Defendants are all present or former officers or 

directors of GM.   

2. In February 2014, GM was forced to issue a massive recall notice of 

its vehicles, the first wave of which necessitated a $300 million charge against 

earnings for the first quarter of 2014.  According to the Valukas Report, this recall 

coincided with the Board’s first involvement with the faulty ignition switch.  (VR 

at 233.)
1
    

3. The Company has issued 45 recalls in 2014, expanding the recall of 

its cars and trucks beyond the ignition switch problem to about 28 million vehicles 

in North America.  This number is greater than the Company’s combined U.S. 

sales for the years 2005-2013.  Of the United States total recalls, approximately 13 

million recalled vehicles involve the ignition switch issues.  GM has reported a 

$1.2 billion charge against earnings for the second quarter of 2014.   

4. GM is now the subject of, among other matters, a number of products 

liability, personal injury and class actions; two Congressional investigations into 

whether it violated the requirements of the TREAD Act, and a criminal 

investigation by the U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) through the U.S. 

Attorney’s Office in New York.  The Company has admitted that it violated the 

                                           
1
  Page citations to the Valukas Report will be set forth as “VR at ___.”  
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National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act of 1996, as amended and re-

codified (the “Safety Act”), 49 U.S.C. §30103, et seq., and paid the maximum civil 

fine of $35 million allowed under the Safety Act for its failure to provide notice to 

NHTSA, and to provide NHTSA with a fine of seven thousand dollars ($7,000) per 

day between April 4, 2014 and the day it issued the Valukas Report to NHTSA. 

5.  News articles have indicated that the SEC is investigating whether 

GM defrauded stockholders regarding the existence of the ignition switch problem 

and its impact on GM’s risk disclosures and its financial statements.  GM has lost 

business and has tarnished its reputation. 

6.   As of the date of this complaint, in addition to the aforementioned 

criminal investigation, the ignition switch defect and other defects recently 

discovered have led to estimated charges of $2.5 billion; a compensation fund 

established by GM which will pay millions of dollars to victims of the ignition 

switch defect; and GM being placed under strict regulatory supervision.   

7. The Director Defendants admit that the defective ignition switch has 

been implicated in at least 13 deaths.  The death toll from the defective GM 

ignition switch may be much higher, as there were more than 300 deaths involving 

GM vehicles in which airbags failed to deploy on just two of the models recalled 

by the Company. 
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8. GM has set up an Ignition Compensation Fund (the “Fund”) to 

compensate victims of accidents caused by its vehicles’ faulty ignition switches.  

As of the date of this complaint, the Fund has approved 23 death claims and 16 

injury claims for people killed or injured as a result of defective ignition switches.  

The Fund administered by lawyer Kenneth Feinberg has received 1,130 claims, 

including 153 claims for deaths. The Fund will pay at least $1 million for each 

death claim, along with $300,000 payments to surviving spouses and children for 

pain and suffering.  In addition, it will calculate the economic value of the lives 

lost.  The Fund has no cap on overall payments.  The Fund is only compensating 

victims of accidents involving the older-model Cobalt and other small cars covered 

by the first switch recalls announced in January 2014 even though millions of other 

cars were recalled.  

9. In the face of these grave facts, the Board, among other things, 

abdicated its oversight responsibilities. Despite having individuals serving on 

GM’s Board who were well acquainted with the Company and the complex 

regulatory environment it had to operate in, both by virtue of its status as an 

automobile manufacturer and in light of its financial ruin and resurrection, GM’s 

Board violated its fiduciary duties to stockholders by “sticking its head in the 

sand.”  This is all the more egregious because this Company was headed by 
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defendant Mary Barra, who as a Board member and longtime insider of the 

Company had an oversight role for those business units of the company 

responsible for this ignition switch defect. 

II. PARTIES 

A. Plaintiffs 

10. The relevant period for this complaint is from November 2010, the 

date Plaintiffs assert the Board’s bad faith actions commenced to the present (the 

“Relevant Period”).  Plaintiffs have standing to pursue these claims under the 

contemporaneous and continuous ownership rules as interpreted by decisions of 

this Court.  Certain plaintiffs were bondholders and stockholders of GM prior to 

the 2009 bankruptcy (“Old GM”) and, as a result of the bankruptcy, were issued in 

or about April 2011, as bondholders, pursuant to a registration statement, stock and 

warrants in General Motors Company.  To the extent Plaintiffs allege facts prior to 

the Relevant Period those facts are alleged as background.   

11.    Plaintiff DiStefano also purchased GM shares in the open market on 

February 24, 2011.   Plaintiff Newspaper and Magazine Employees Union and 

Philadelphia Publishers’ Pension Fund has been a stockholder of GM since at least 

November 18, 2010. 
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12.  Plaintiffs James Boso, John Chevedden, Belle Cohen, Electrical 

Workers’ Pension Trust Fund For The International Brotherhood of Electrical 

Workers, Local No. 58  First Derivative Traders LP, Dr. Robert D. Fouchaux, Paul 

Perry Revoc. Liv. Trust, Claire Rand, Jamie Suprina, and Alan Chopp made 

Section 220 Demands and have provided GM with their purchase information in 

connection therewith. 

B. Nominal Defendant 

13. GM is a Delaware corporation with its principal executive offices 

located at 300 Renaissance Center, Detroit, Michigan 48243.  GM was 

incorporated in Delaware in 2009 after emerging from a complex bankruptcy 

proceeding.  GM designs, builds and sells vehicles, trucks and automobile parts 

worldwide.  Last year, GM’s total worldwide retail vehicle sales were 9.7 million.  

GM maintains operations in over sixty (60) countries.  

14. On July 5, 2009, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern 

District of New York issued a Sale Order and Injunction, approving the sale of 

substantially all of Old GM’s assets under Section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code 

(“363 Asset Sale”), outside of the ordinary course of its business, to a new and 

independent government-sponsored company. 
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15.   GM voluntarily assumed Old GM’s liability for warranty claims, and 

for product liability claims asserted by those injured after the 363 Asset Sale (even 

if the vehicle was manufactured before the 363 Asset Sale).  GM did not assume 

any Old GM liabilities for injuries or illnesses that arose before the 363 Asset Sale, 

and claims against GM of that character were enjoined. 

16.    On March 29, 2011, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the 

Southern District of New York entered an order confirming the Second Amended 

Joint Chapter 11 Plan for Old GM and joint debtors.  As of the Effective Date of 

March 31, 2011, the Plan provided a limited release to present and former directors 

and officers on or after the Commencement Date, among others, from:  

any and all Causes of Action held by, assertable on behalf of, or 

derivative from the Debtors, in any way relating to the Debtors, the 

Chapter 11 Cases, the Plan, negotiations regarding or concerning the 

Plan, and the ownership, management, and operation of the Debtors, 

except for actions found by Final Order to be willful misconduct 

(including, but not limited to, conduct that results in a personal profit 

at the expense of the Debtors’ estates), gross negligence, fraud, 

malpractice, criminal conduct, unauthorized use of confidential 

information that causes damages, breach of fiduciary duty (to the 

extent applicable), and ultra vires acts… 

 

17. GM emerged from Bankruptcy on July 10, 2009 and launched its 

Initial Public Offering on November 17, 2010.   

18. Very few companies are allowed to start over.  GM was given that 
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opportunity and emerged from bankruptcy with an opportunity for a fresh start.  

Old GM’s Board was reconstituted.  Of the current twelve board members, six 

joined in 2009, including defendants Davis, Girsky, Isdell, Marinello, Russo, and 

Stephenson (defined below).
2
  

C. Defendants 

Current Directors 

19. Defendant Mary T. Barra (“Barra”) has been the Company’s Chief 

Executive Office and a member of the Board since January 15, 2014, and was the 

Company’s Executive Vice President of Global Product Development & Global 

Purchasing and Supply Chain from August 2013 to January 15, 2014.  She served 

as the Senior Vice President of Global Product Development at the Company from 

February 1, 2011 to August 2013, and as its Chief of Product Development. She 

served as Executive Director of Vehicle Manufacturing Engineering of Old GM 

Corporation until July 2009, and Vice President of Global Manufacturing 

Engineering at Motors Liquidation Company, the entity used to enable Old GM to 

file for bankruptcy, from February 1, 2008 to July 2009.  Prior to 2009, she also 

                                           
2
   On June 10, 2014, non-party Joseph J. Ashton was elected to serve as a 

member of the Board.  According to the 2014 Proxy Statement, Ashton’s term as a 

director of GM did not begin until August 11, 2014. 
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had management responsibilities in various engineering and staff positions at the 

Company.   

20. On October 3, 2011, after Barra had become Senior Vice President for 

Global Product Development, the then-Vice President for Global Quality sent her 

an email containing a press report disclosing that NHTSA was investigating the 

Saturn for power steering problems. (GMHEC000221311.)
3
 

21. The October 3, 2011 email informed Barra that, “The National 

Highway Traffic Safety Administration is a step closer to concluding that General 

Motors should have recalled 384,000 Saturn Ions in 2010 as part of a larger recall 

that covered one million Chevrolets and Pontiacs for a steering problem.  The 

agency posted a document on its Web site over the weekend at the time saying that 

it upgraded its investigation into Saturn Ions from the 2004-7 model years as a 

result of heightened concern that a sudden loss of electric power steering could 

cause crashes.  The document shows the agency has 846 complaints from Saturn 

owners and G.M. has almost 3,500.” 

22. On April 22, 2012, Barra received an email from a former GM 

employee reporting the existence of the “moving stall” with the Buick directly 

                                           
3
    The designation “GMHEC__” refers to documents produced by GM to the 

U.S. House of Representative, Committee on Energy and Commerce, 

Subcommittee on Oversight and Investigations.   
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attributable to the key design and suggesting that the Company investigate and 

perhaps issue a service bulletin.   Barra forwarded the e-mail to the VP for Global 

Quality, Terry Woychowski.  Her email was then forwarded within the Company 

and an e-mail discussion ensued ultimately involving eight people, but no longer 

including Barra.  (VR at 229.) 

23. The Valukas Report notes that Barra received the emails of October 3, 

2011, April 22, 2012 and further notes that, in December 2013, Barra and GM’s 

General Counsel, Michael Millikin (“Millikin”) had been provided information 

that data was being reviewed that could lead to a recall.  (VR at 227.)   Barra also 

heard from John Calabrese that the Cobalt Ignition Switch had a defect that could 

lead to a recall.  Id. at 228.  Barra had sufficient information through direct 

communications to put her on actual notice, or at minimum, inquiry notice, of the 

ignition switch defect which was plaguing the Company. 

24. Defendant Theodore M. Solso (“Solso”) has been a member of the 

Board since June 2012, and presently acts as its non-executive chairman.  He has 

claimed to the press that he is an activist Chairman.   Press reports indicate that he 

has personally physically reviewed GM’s operations. Solso is on the Audit, 

Corporate Governance and Executive Compensation Committees.  He was 
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formerly the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Cummins, Inc.   Solso is 

also a director of Ball Corporation.  

25. Defendant Stephen J. Girsky (“Girsky”) has been a member of the 

Board since July 2009 and pursuant to a stockholders’ agreement among GM’s 

largest stockholders was nominated to the Board by the UAW Retiree Medical 

Benefits Trust.  Girsky has been Vice Chairman of Corporate Strategy, Business 

Development, Global Product Planning and Global Purchasing and Supply at GM 

since February 2011, and Vice Chairman of Corporate Strategy and Business 

Development since March 2010.  He also served as Interim President of GM 

Europe from July 2012 to February 2013 and, as Chairman of the Adman Opel AG 

Supervisory Board, a GM subsidiary, since November 2011, and a member of that 

board since January 2010.  He has been a member of the GM Ventures LLC board 

of directors, a GM subsidiary, since May 2010, and in October 2010, he joined the 

board of directors of GM Financial Company, Inc., a GM subsidiary.  He served as 

senior advisor to the Office of the Chairman at GM from December 2009 to 

February 2010.  Girsky is a member of the Public Policy and the Finance 

Committees.  Girsky has also served as the lead director of Dana Holdings Corp.     

26. Defendant Patricia F. Russo (“Russo”) has been a member of the 

Board since July 2009 and the Lead Director of the Board since March 2010.  



 

 14 

 

Russo is the chair of the Corporate Governance Committee and a member of the 

Executive Compensation and Finance Committees.   

27. Defendant Thomas M. Schoewe (“Schoewe”) had been a member of 

the Board since November 2011.  Schoewe is the Chair of the Audit Committee 

and is on the Finance Committee. 

28. Defendant Erroll B. Davis, Jr. (“Davis”) has been a member of GM’s 

Board since July 2009.  Davis also was a member of Old GM’s Board from 2007 

to 2009.  Davis is a member of GM’s Audit Committee.  In addition, Davis has 

served as Chair of the Public Policy Committee since April 2011.   

29. Defendant Kathryn V. Marinello (“Marinello”) is a member of GM’s 

Board and has been since July 2009.  Marinello also served on Old GM’s Board 

from 2007 to 2009.  Marinello has served as a member of GM’s Audit and Public 

Policy Committees since at least August 2010. 

30. Defendant E. Neville Isdell (“Isdell”) has been a member of GM’s 

Board since July 2009.  Isdell also served on Old GM’s Board from 2008 to 2009.  

Isdell is Chair of the Executive Compensation Committee, is a member of the 

Directors and Corporate Governance and Audit Committees, and from at least 

2010 through 2012, was a member of the Public Policy Committee.        
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31. Defendant Carole M. Stephenson (“Stephenson”) has been a member 

of the Board since July 2009.  She serves on the Directors and Corporate 

Governance and the Executive Compensation Committees.     

32. Defendant James J. Mulva (“Mulva”) has been a member of the Board 

since June 2012.  Mulva is a member of the Executive Compensation, Finance, and 

Public Policy Committees.    

33. Defendant Admiral Michael G. Mullen (“Mullen”) has been a member 

of the Board since February 2013.  Mullen is a member of the Audit and Public 

Policy Committees. 

D. Former Directors 

34. Defendant Daniel F. Akerson (“Akerson”) joined the Board in 2009.  

He held the office of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer from January 2011 

until January 15, 2014 and Chief Executive Officer from September 2010 until 

January 15, 2014. 

35. Defendant David Bonderman (“Bonderman”) joined the Board in July 

2009.  He served as a director until June 10, 2014.  Bonderman was the co-

founding partner and managing general partner of TPG, a private equity firm.  

Bonderman was a member of the Executive Compensation, and Finance 

Committees of the Board until his resignation June 2014.    
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36. Defendant Robert D. Krebs (“Krebs”) joined the Board in July 2009.  

He resigned from the Board on June 10, 2014.  Krebs was a member of the Audit 

Committee as well as the Corporate Governance Committee, and was chairman of 

the Finance Committee.  Krebs has served as the President and CEO of Burlington 

Northern Santa Fe Corporation; Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President 

of Burlington Northern Inc.; President of Southern Pacific Railroad; and Chief 

Executive Officer and President of Santa Fe Pacific Corp.  Krebs has been a 

Director of United Air Lines, Inc. (January 2006-present), Freeport-McMoran 

Corporation (1987-2006), and Railpower Technologies Corp (2005) among other 

companies.  

37.   Defendant Philip A. Laskawy (“Laskawy”) joined the Board in July 

2009.  He served as a director until June 6, 2013. 

38. Defendant Cynthia A. Telles (“Telles”) joined the Board in April 

2010.  She served as a director until June 10, 2014.  Telles was a member of the 

Corporate Governance committee until June 2014.   

39. The above former directors, together with the current directors are 

referred to as the “Director Defendants.” 

40. The members of GM’s Board were aware that as fiduciaries to a 

Company that makes dangerous products, they were entrusted with ensuring the 
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safety of the millions of people throughout the world who purchase and drive GM 

vehicles.  They knew that un-remediated defects could cost lives or cause injuries. 

Moreover, these directors knew that GM’s business and profits rested upon both 

the perception and the reality that GM products were safe.  For many years, GM 

worked to overcome a reputation that its vehicles were inferior to those made by 

competitors.  The Board knew that reputational damage would affect the 

Company’s ability to sell vehicles and also its profitability, indefinitely.  

Moreover, the Director Directors knew that GM had barely survived the financial 

crisis, and that employees would be reluctant in these circumstances to report risks 

that might threaten GM’s financial rebound.  Finally, the Board was aware of the 

risk faced by auto companies that do not remediate product defects.  These risks 

range from regulatory rebukes to lawsuits that might result in punitive awards, all 

the way up to criminal fines and prosecutions.   

III. THE FACTS 

1. GM Operates In a Regulated Industry 

41. GM designs, builds and sells cars, trucks and automobile parts 

worldwide. 

42. As reflected in a  
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43. The Safety Act provides for regulation of motor vehicles and motor 

vehicle equipment by the Secretary of Transportation, 49 U.S.C. § 30111.  The 

Secretary has delegated his authorities under NHTSA.  This delegation includes 

the authority to compromise the amount of civil penalties for violations of the 

Safety Act and regulations prescribed thereunder.  See 49 U.S.C. § 30165(b); 49 

C.F.R. §1.95. 

44. Under the Safety Act, a manufacturer of motor vehicles has a duty to 

notify NHTSA and owners, purchasers, and dealers of a vehicle if the 

manufacturer learns the vehicle contains a defect and decides in good faith that the 

defect is related to motor vehicle safety. 49 U.S.C. § 30118(c)(1).  The 

manufacturer must provide this notice to NHTSA not more than five working days 

after a defect in a vehicle has been determined to be safety related. 49 C.F.R. § 

573.6 (b).  The manufacturer’s notice to NHTSA must be in the form specified by 

regulation, and is known as a “Part 573 Report.”  See 49 C.F.R. Part 573.  Failure 

                                           
4
   In citing to the confidential Board materials produced pursuant to the 

Section 220 Demands, Plaintiffs will use the shorthand method,” GM  ____”.   In 

the documents, a longer Bates numbering system is used.  For example, GM 1276 

is, in the production, numbered “GM 220_00001276.” 
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to comply with the notification requirements of the Safety Act may result in a 

monetary penalty. 

45. 49 U.S.C. § 30165(a)(1) states:   

(a) CIVIL PENALTIES.— 

(1) IN GENERAL.—A person that violates any of section 

30112, 30115, 30117 through 30122, 30123(d), 30125(c), 30127, 

or 30141 through 30147, or a regulation prescribed thereunder, is 

liable to the United States Government for a civil penalty of not 

more than $5,000 for each violation. A separate violation occurs 

for each motor vehicle or item of motor vehicle equipment and 

for each failure or refusal to allow or perform an act required by 

any of those sections. The maximum penalty under this 

subsection for a related series of violations is $35,000,000.  

 

46. In addition, in the fall of 2000, the Transportation Recall 

Enhancement, Accountability and Documentation Act (the “TREAD Act”) was 

enacted.  

47. The purpose of the TREAD Act was to increase consumer safety 

through mandates assigned to NHTSA.  It was drafted in response to fatalities 

related to Ford Explorers fitted with Firestone tires.  The Tread Act was signed into 

law by President Clinton on November 1, 2000, and has been incorporated into the 

existing Safety Act. 
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48. There are three major components of the TREAD Act: 

 First, it requires that vehicle manufacturers report to the 

NHTSA when it conducts a safety recall or other safety 

campaign in a foreign country. 

 Second, vehicle manufacturers need to report information 

related to defects, reports of injury or death related to its 

products, as well as other relevant data in order to comply 

with “Early Warning” requirements. 

 Third, there is criminal liability where a vehicle manufacturer 

intentionally violates the new reporting requirements when a 

safety-related defect has subsequently caused death or serious 

bodily injury. 

49. There are a number of other provisions which mostly address 

manufacturers of vehicle tires and guidance to the NHTSA on reporting data.  The 

“Early Warning” requirement, 49 U.S.C. § 30166(m), is the heart of the TREAD 

Act, enabling the NHTSA to collect data, notice trends, and warn consumers of 

potential defects in vehicles. 

50. Failure to comply with the notification requirements of the TREAD 

Act may also result in a monetary penalty (as described above with violations of 49 

U.S.C. § 30118) and/or imprisonment. 

51. As stated in 49 U.S.C. § 30165(a)(2), the civil penalties for violation 

of the “Early Warning” requirement (49 U.S.C. § 30166) are as follows: “A person 

who violates section 30166 or a regulation prescribed under that section is liable to 
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the United States Government for a civil penalty for failing or refusing to allow or 

perform an act required under that section or regulation. The maximum penalty 

under this paragraph is $5,000 per violation per day. The maximum penalty under 

this paragraph for a related series of daily violations is $35,000,000.” 

52. Moreover, criminal penalties for violation of the “Early Warning” 

requirement are proscribed in 49 U.S.C. § 30170(a)(1) as: 

(a) CRIMINAL LIABILITY FOR FALSIFYING OR 

WITHHOLDING INFORMATION- 

 

(1) GENERAL RULE- A person who violates section 1001 of 

title 18 with respect to the reporting requirements of section 

30166, with the specific intention of misleading the Secretary 

with respect to motor vehicle or motor vehicle equipment safety 

related defects that have caused death or serious bodily injury to 

an individual (as defined in section 1365(g)(3) of title 18), shall 

be subject to criminal penalties of a fine under title 18, or 

imprisoned for not more than 15 years, or both. 

 

53. As disclosed in GM’s filings with the SEC “[i]n the U.S. if a vehicle 

or vehicle equipment does not comply with a safety standard or if a vehicle defect 

creates an unreasonable safety risk the manufacturer is required to notify owners 

and provide a remedy.”  GM’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 

filed with SEC on February 6, 2014 at 13. 

54. Furthermore, GM is “required to report certain information relating to 

certain customer complaints, warranty claims, field reports and notices and claims 
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involving property damage, injuries and fatalities in the U.S. and claims involving 

fatalities outside the U.S.  [GM is] also required to report certain information 

concerning safety recalls and other safety campaigns outside the U.S.”  Id. 

55. A company that violates the notification requirements of the Safety 

Act or a regulation prescribed thereunder is liable to the United States Government 

for a civil penalty of not more than $7,000 for each violation.  The maximum 

penalty for a series of violations is $35 million.  

56. The GM recall at issue in the present matter covers the 2005-2010 

Chevrolet Cobalt, 2007-2010 Pontiac G5, 2003-2007 Saturn Ion, 2006-2011 

Chevrolet HHR, 2006-2010 Pontiac Solstice and 2007-2010 Saturn Sky vehicles. 

NHTSA has designated this GM recall as NHTSA Recall No. 14V-047.  It was not 

until February 7, 2014 that GM notified the NHTSA that it was recalling these cars 

because of a “condition in which the vehicle’s ignition switch may unintentionally 

move from the ‘run’ position to the ‘accessory’ or ’off’ position resulting in a loss 

of power.”   To date, GM has recalled approximately 13 million vehicles with 

ignition switch issues.   

57. The ignition switch defect refers to the inability of the ignition to keep 

a car powered on by slipping from the “run” mode to the “accessory” mode, 

generally due to a modest bump to the key fob.  When this slippage occurs, the 
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vehicle's engine and electrical systems can shut off, disabling the power steering 

and power brakes and causing non-deployment of the vehicle’s airbag and the 

failure of the vehicle’s seatbelt pre-tensioners in the event of a crash.  A driver 

going 55 miles per hour, for instance, could inadvertently touch the ignition with 

his knee, causing the ignition to slip to accessory and cutting off the power steering 

such that the driver is no longer able to steer the car, generally resulting in crash. 

 2. The Valukas Report 

58. After years of conscious disregard of its obligations, the Board was hit 

by an inevitable safety scandal.  In the midst of a firestorm of criticism, the Board 

retained Jenner & Block partner Anton Valukas to investigate why it took so long 

for GM to recall cars with faulty ignition switches.   

59. The Valukas Report states that the mandate from GM’s CEO and 

Board was: 

…to investigate the circumstances that led up to the recall of the 

Cobalt and other cars due to the flawed ignition switch…and return to 

Ms. Barra and the Board with the unvarnished truth about what 

happened, why it happened, and what GM should do to ensure that it 

never happens again.  Jenner was also asked to focus on the 

knowledge of specific senior executives, as well as GM’s Board.   

 

60. Valukas testified before Congress that his mandate from the GM 

Board was:   
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Block’s bottom-line.  Yet,  missing from the Valukas Report is any discussion or 

disclosure of Jenner & Block’s or Valukas’ direct business involvement with GM, 

including the extent of other legal work, lobbying efforts and consultation with the 

Board and Senior Executives engaged in by Jenner & Block or the fees generated 

for its work over the last twelve years.    

66.   On its website, Jenner & Block touts: “Our corporate partners have 

been at the center of many high-profile matters stemming from the economic crisis 

of the past several years.  Among other things, Jenner & Block played a key role in 

GM’s $23.1 billion Initial Public Offering and in the “Section 363” sale of 

substantially all of its assets in connection with its Chapter 11 reorganization.  

Corporate lawyers in New York were also members of the team that launched 

GM’s global exchange offer for approximately $27.2 billion of its outstanding debt 

and convertible debt securities.” 

67. According to ’ 

, 
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68. Senator Richard Blumenthal (D-Conn) observed, upon review of the 

Valukas Report, that the Report “continues to leave critical questions unanswered” 

and “absolves upper management, denies deliberate wrongdoing, and dismisses 

corporate culpability.”  The Senator noted that the report was “the best report 

money can buy.”   

69. A second law firm involved in assisting in the investigation was King 

& Spalding (“K&S”) (VR at 15), which has also been a long-time products liability 

defense firm for GM.  The Valukas Report is full of references to K&S attorneys 

investigating multiple crashes involving the Cobalt vehicle over the years.  Id. at 

140, 148, 162, 199 and 201.  K&S attorneys frequently advised GM employees 

that the evidence from the accidents of the Cobalt crashes showed that the ignition 

switch had been turned to the accessory position, rather than the run position, prior 

to accidents. (Id.) The assistance of K&S in the Valukas Report further undermines 

the independence of the report. 

70. The Valukas Report concludes that, “no single committee of the 

Board was responsible for all vehicle safety-related issues, and the Board and its 

committees received a wide variety of reports” but these “did not discuss 

individual safety issues or individual recalls except in rare circumstances.” (VR at 

232.)  The Valukas Report also noted that “No claim, settlement, or other aspect of 
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any litigation involving the Ignition Switch, airbags, or moving stalls in the Cobalt 

vehicles was specifically referenced any of the litigation reports provided to the 

Board.”  (VR at 238-9.) 

71. The Valukas Report shows GM as a company where employees 

avoided responsibility and where there was a serious lack of effective corporate 

governance at the very top of the Company.  The ignition switch issue passed 

through the hands of an astonishing number of people, but Valukas could not 

determine the identity of any actual decision-maker. 

3.   The Board Fails to Establish an Adequate Reporting System  

 

a. The Board Does Not Ensure That It Has Procedures  

Such That Regulators Receive Timely Information 

 

72. As previously described, pursuant to the TREAD Act, 49 U.S.C. §§ 

30101-30170, and regulations promulgated thereunder, when a manufacturer learns 

that a vehicle contains a safety defect, the manufacturer must promptly disclose the 

defect.  49 U.S.C. § 30118(c)(1) & (2).   

73. 49 U.S.C. § 30118(c) states, “A manufacturer of a motor vehicle or 

replacement equipment shall notify the Secretary by certified mail, and the owners, 

purchasers, and dealers of the vehicle or equipment as provided in section 

30119(d) of this section, if the manufacturer – (1) learns the vehicle or equipment 



 

 29 

 

contains a defect and decides in good faith that the defect is related to motor 

vehicle safety.”  

74. As defined in the TREAD Act, a “‘defect’ includes any defect in 

performance, construction, a component, or material of a motor vehicle or motor 

vehicle equipment.”  49 U.S.C. § 30102(a)(2).   

75. “Motor vehicle safety” under the Tread Act means the performance of 

a motor vehicle or motor vehicle equipment in a way that protects the public 

against unreasonable risk of accidents occurring because of the design, 

construction, or performance of a motor vehicle, and against unreasonable risk of 

death or injury in an accident, and includes nonoperational safety of a motor 

vehicle.”  49 U.S.C. § 30102(a)(8). 

76. NHTSA regulations require each car manufacturer to furnish to 

NHTSA on a monthly basis a copy of all notices, bulletins, and other 

communications sent to more than one manufacturer, distributor, dealer, lessor, 

lessee, or purchaser, regarding any defect, regardless of whether the manufacturer 

believes that the defect is safety-related.  See 49 C.F.R. § 573.8. 

b. GM’s Insufficient TREAD Reporting 

77. Since the inception of the TREAD Act, GM has maintained a TREAD 

database (known as “TREAD”) in which the Company stored the data required to 
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be reported quarterly to NHTSA under the TREAD Act.  (VR at 306.)  The 

information in the TREAD database was available to investigators and the limited 

team which maintained the database.  Id.  

78. TREAD, like many of the reporting processes at GM, was deficient. 

79. GM’s TREAD database was organized to track and report data in 

categories created by NHTSA covering 24 different systems in a vehicles, such as 

airbags or steering, and fire and rollovers.  Ignition switch defect was not one of 

the reported categories, and therefore, any trend in safety issues arising from 

ignition switches could not be directly tracked by the database.  (VR at 307-308.)  

The database further did not contain a description of the problem with a particular 

vehicle part, but rather merely a description of the action taken so that the database 

could not be used to identify a problem experienced by the customer. That 

information could only be obtained by following up with the dealer.  (VR at 308-

309.) 

80. Therefore, once an investigator identified a potentially relevant 

problem, the investigator had to obtain additional material.  Id. at 309. 

81. Problems with the TREAD database were further exacerbated by the 

fact as the Valukas Report concluded, “until 2014, the TREAD Reporting team did 

not have sufficient resources to obtain any of the advanced data mining software 
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programs available in the industry to better identify and understand potential 

defects.” (VR at 308.)  

82. TREAD  drew from a variety of other sources available at the 

Company including service requests, technical assistance repair orders from 

dealers; surveys; field reports, On-Star, and “Team Connect,” a database 

maintained by GM’s legal department to track date concerning complaints filed in 

court. The TREAD database did not, however, contain GM’s Problem Resolution 

and Tracking System (PRTS)  or Service Bulletins. (VR at 307.)  Moreover, access 

to the TREAD Report was highly controlled, with a specific team assigned to 

prepare NHTSA-required reports and internal reports to GM investigators. 

83.  
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84. The GM Board also  

 

 

85. However, given GM’s broken processes, and the absence of adequate 

reporting, from the period of 2003 through January 2014, GM and the Board 

repeatedly violated the TREAD Act in failing to submit truthful and adequate 

reports to NHTSA.  See Paragraph 10 of the NHTSA-GM Consent Order dated 

May 16, 2014 (the “Consent Decree” or “Consent Order”). 

86. On February 7, 2014, GM notified NHTSA that it determined that a 

defect, which relates to motor vehicle safety, exists in 619,122 model year (“MY”) 

2005-2007 Chevrolet Cobalt and MY 2007 Pontiac G5 vehicles.  According to 

GM’s Part 573 Report, the safety related defect concerns a condition in which the 

vehicle’s ignition switch may unintentionally move from the “run” position to the 

“accessory” or “off ” position resulting in a loss of power.  GM indicated that this 

risk may be increased if the key ring is carrying added weight or the vehicle goes 

off road or experiences some other impact related event.  GM also indicated that in 

some cases, the timing of the ignition switch movement relative to the activation of 

the sensing algorithm of the crash event may result in the airbags not deploying.  
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On February 24, 2014, GM amended its Part 573 Report to include a more detailed 

chronology of principal events. 

87. On February 25, 2014, GM submitted a second Part 573 Report 

notifying NHTSA that an additional 748,024 vehicles contain the same safety-

related defect. Those additional vehicles are the MY 2006-2007 Chevrolet HHR 

and Pontiac Solstice, MY 2003-2007 Saturn Ion, and MY 2007 Saturn Sky 

vehicles.  On March 11, 2014, GM amended its February 25, 2014 Part 573 Report 

to include a more detailed chronology of principal events. 

88. On February 26, 2014, NHTSA opened a civil enforcement 

investigation, Timeliness Query TQ14-001, to evaluate the timing of GM’s 

defective decision-making and reporting of a safety-related defect (the ignition 

switch) to the NHTSA. 

89. On March 28, 2014, GM submitted a third Part 573 Report, indicating 

that the same safety-related defect exists in service parts that may have been 

installed during repairs in some MY 2008-2010 Chevrolet Cobalt, MY 2008-2011 

Chevrolet HHR, MY 2008-2010 Pontiac Solstice, MY 2008-2010 Pontiac G5, and 

MY 2008-2010 Saturn Sky vehicles. This Part 573 Report expanded the recall to 

another 823,788 vehicles. 
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90. On May 16, 2014, GM resolved the investigation and avoided 

potential litigation, by entering into a Consent Decree with the NHTSA.  In the 

Consent Decree, “GM admits that it violated the Safety [TREAD] Act by failing to 

provide notice to NHTSA of the safety-related defect that is the subject of the 

Recall No. 14V-047 within five working days as required by 49 U.S.C. 

§30118(c)(1), 49 U.S. C. §30119(c)(2), and 49 C.F.R. §573.6(b).”  Consent Decree 

at ¶ 10. 

91. GM agreed to pay a record breaking maximum civil penalty of $35 

million for its failure to provide timely notice to NHTSA “and to take part in 

unprecedented oversight requirements as a result of findings from NHTSA’s 

timeliness investigation regarding the Chevrolet Cobalt and the automaker’s failure 

to report a safety defect in the vehicle to the federal government in a timely 

manner.”  

92. As NHTSA announced, “[t]his action represents the single highest 

civil penalty amount ever paid as a result of a NHTSA investigation of violations 

stemming from a recall.” 

93. As NHTSA further announced, “Federal law requires all auto 

manufacturers to notify NHTSA within five business days of determining that a 

safety-related defect exists or that a vehicle is not in compliance with federal motor 
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vehicle safety standards and to promptly conduct a recall. GM admits in the 

Consent Order that it did not do so.” 

94. What accounted for the fine, according to NHTSA, was the 

government’s finding that, “[b]oth in 2007 and again in 2010, NHTSA reviewed 

data related to the non-deployment of airbags in certain Chevy Cobalt models but 

each time, determined that it lacked the data necessary to open a formal 

investigation. However, on February 7, 2014, GM announced it would recall 

certain model vehicles for a defect where the vehicle’s ignition switch may 

unintentionally move out of the “run” position that could result in the air bag not 

deploying in the event of a crash.  GM had failed to advise NHTSA of this defect 

at the time of the agency’s earlier reviews.” 

95. Even after GM’s announcement on February 7, 2014, GM and the 

Board did not timely respond to NHTSA’s inquiries resulting in yet a further 

penalty inasmuch as GM was further ordered to pay $7,000  per day for each day 

between April 4, 2014 and the date “on which GM provides the written factual 

report to NHTSA regarding the investigation conducted by . . . Valukas . . . for 

GM’s failure to fully respond to NHTSA’s March 4, 2014 Special Order in TQ14-

001 by the due date of April 3, 2014.” (Consent Order, ¶ 12.)  In other words, even 

with the firestorm surrounding the recall at full blast and NHTSA demanding 
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accountability by GM, the Board still did not assure that the regulators would 

receive timely information leading to unprecedented fines.  

96. In addition to the $35 million fine, GM was required to provide 

NHTSA with a comprehensive written plan “of how GM intends to maximize its 

completion rate for Recall No. 14V-047 [the ignition switch recall]”, and to 

provide NHTSA with quarterly written reports, and biweekly reports of its 

progress on the recall, for the first six months following execution of the Consent 

Order. 

97.  GM is required to meet with NHTSA on a monthly basis for one year 

to discuss its implementation of the recommendations made by the Valukas Report 

as well as other performance requirements to which it agreed in the Consent Order.  

Consent Order, ¶ 16.   

98.  Additionally, GM had to rectify its faulty processes, including 

establishing a procedure for its employees to report expeditiously concerns 

regarding actual or potential safety defects, or non-compliance with Federal Motor 

Vehicle Safety Standards, and improve employee training among other things.  The 

fact that the Company was required by NHTSA to establish this procedure 

indicates that GM and the Board did not have a procedure in place for GM 
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employees to report expeditiously concerns regarding actual or potential safety 

defects, or non-compliance with Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards. 

99. U.S. Transportation Secretary Anthony Foxx announced the fine (the 

maximum the agency can impose), noting that, “What GM did was break the law. . 

.. They failed to meet their public safety obligations.” The government was so 

outraged by GM’s lack of accountability regarding its review of safety related 

issues, among other things, that it has sought authorization from Congress to 

increase the maximum penalty from $35 million to $300 million. The message is 

that “delays will not be tolerated.” 

100. NHTSA further announced in connection with the Consent Order, 

“[t]oday’s action is historic in that the provisions of the Consent Order will be 

immediately enforceable in federal court if GM does not fully comply. The 

Consent Order will hold GM accountable, push the automaker to make needed 

institutional change, and ensure that replacement parts are produced quickly and 

recalled vehicles are repaired promptly.” 

101. Acting NHTSA Acting Administrator David Friedman (“Friedman”) 

stated, in connection with the Consent Decree, that GM employees ranging from 

engineers “all the way up through executives” were aware of the information years 

before the recall of 2.6 million vehicles.   
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102. Friedman noted that a 2009 memo from a parts supplier to GM stated 

that the switch problem could disable the cars’ air bags and stated that, had the 

government been told that at the time, it would have sought a recall. 

103. Friedman expressly criticized GM’s “corporate philosophy” and 

pointed to internal training documents that discouraged engineers from using the 

words “safety” and “defect” when identifying product risks.  He stated that “[t]he 

fact that GM took so long to report this defect says there was something very 

wrong with the company’s values.” 

104. No documents have been produced to Plaintiffs’ counsel that 

demonstrates that the Board took any steps to ensure that GM timely informed the 

regulators of defective products leading to timely product recalls. 

105. On October 3, 2011, after Barra had become Senior Vice President for 

Global Product Development, the then-Vice President for Global Quality sent her 

an email containing a press report disclosing that NHTSA was investigating the 

Saturn for power steering problems. (GMHEC000221311.) 

106. The October 3, 2011 email informed Barra that: “The National 

Highway Traffic Safety Administration is a step closer to concluding that General 

Motors should have recalled 384,000 Saturn Ions in 2010 as part of a larger recall 

that covered one million Chevrolets and Pontiacs for a steering problem.  The 
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agency posted a document on its Web site over the weekend saying that it 

upgraded its investigation into Saturn Ions from the 2004-7 model years as a result 

of heightened concern that a sudden loss of electric power steering could cause 

crashes. The document shows the agency has 846 complaints from Saturn owners 

and G.M. has almost 3,500.”   

107. There is no indication that Barra took any steps after receiving this 

email. 

108. Moreover, GM emails produced to Congress demonstrate that other 

senior officers at GM were told of NHTSA’s alarming “concerns about recent GM 

actions.”  (GMHEC000222037-041.) 

109. For example, on July 23, 2013, Frank Borris, NHTSA’s Director, 

Office of Defects Investigation (“ODI”) sent an email to M. Carmen Benavides, 

GM’s Director – Product Investigations, Safety Regulations & Certification, Field 

Performance.  In that email, Mr. Borris wrote, “[t]he general perception is that GM 

is slow to communicate, slow to act, and, at times, requires additional effort of 

ODI that we do not feel is necessary with some of your peers.” Six specific 

examples followed. (GMHEC000222038.) 

110. Benavides shared the above referenced email with numerous people at 

GM, including Michael Robinson, Vice President, Sustainability and Global 
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Regulatory Affairs and Gay P. Kent, Director, Product Investigations, Structure 

and Safety Integration.  Robinson expressed concern as to whether Borris’ 

comments about GM’s slowness to respond reflected “a larger agency view?”  

Understanding the seriousness of the communication, Robinson indicated a “need 

to address this immediately.”   (GMHEC000222037.) 

111. The lack of GM Board oversight is discussed in a damning 

investigative report by The New York Times, which reported on September 7, 2014 

that, “[a]fter General Motors emerged from bankruptcy and a government bailout 

five years ago, the board of directors of the ‘new G.M.’ was expected to keep a 

more watchful eye on a company that had gone seriously off track.  But on the 

issue of vehicle safety, the board until recently took a mostly hands-off approach, 

rarely even discussing the topic beyond periodic reviews of product quality with 

company executives, according to interviews with current and former board 

members, as well as G.M. officials with knowledge of the board’s actions.”  

112.  Solso admitted to The New York Times, “[y]es, we should have 

known earlier . . . .  The way I look at it, G.M. has not been well run for a long 

period of time.”  

113. But the facts here go beyond simply not being a well-run company.  

GM is under criminal investigation by the DOJ for, among other things, not being 
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forthright with the regulators and obscuring a deadly defect that killed and injured 

hundreds of individuals. 

114. As reported by The New York Times on July 15, 2014, “[GM] 

repeatedly found a way not to answer the simple question from regulators of what 

led to a crash.  In at least three cases of fatal crashes . . . GM said that it had not 

assessed the cause.”  “In other cases” the regulators were met with “G.M. opts not 

to respond.” “The responses came even though G.M. had for years been aware of 

sudden power loss in the models involved in the accidents.”  These responses are 

found in documents known as ‘death inquiries,’ which The New York Times 

obtained through a Freedom of Information Act.  In these death inquiries, NHTSA 

asked GM to explain the circumstances surrounding certain crashes to help identify 

potential defects in cars. 

115. Despite the fact that these inquiries involved both regulatory oversight 

and fatal crashes, the Board attempted to insulate itself from these situations by 

having no process or procedure in place to assure itself that it knew of the “death 

inquiries” and the responses thereto.  Moreover the Board further attempted to 

insulate itself by failing to establish a policy or procedure to assure that the 

information that the regulators received from GM was full, complete, and timely. 
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116.  Friedman, when asked for comment by The New York Times, noted, 

“G.M.’s decision-making, structure, process and corporate culture stood in the way 

of safety.”  New York Times, July 15, 2014.  

 c. The Board Does Not Ensure That It Receives  

Necessary Information from the Legal Department  

 

117. GM maintains a large in-house legal department.  Among its tasks is 

to assist outside counsel in the defense of product liability cases.  GM faces a 

number of such suits each year.  Very few go to trial.  Even fewer present a risk of 

a punitive damages award given the hurdles plaintiffs face in obtaining such an 

award, the improper use of confidentiality agreements and the risk inherent in 

sustaining any verdict on appeal. 

118. Inside GM's legal department, GM attorneys regularly review product 

liability cases brought against the Company.  Settlement of any products liability 

action for between $100,000 and $1.5 million (later increased to $2 million) 

required the approval of a GM committee called the "Roundtable."  Meetings of 

the Roundtable occurred weekly.  

119. Any settlement above $1.5 million required the approval of the 

Settlement Review Committee ("SRC"), which met monthly, and had settlement 
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authority up to $5.0 million regardless of whether punitive damages were awarded.  

Any amount above that figure only required approval by GM's General Counsel. 

120. A general counsel of a corporation is responsible for, among other 

things, identifying, assessing, mitigating, and managing legal and regulatory risk 

and advising management, the chief risk officer, and the board on those risks and 

activities.   

   

 

    

121.  

 

    

 

 

 

122.         

 

.   Milliken testified that he did 

not know of the ignition switch defect until February 2014, and was not aware of 
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any litigation involving fatal accidents linked to the defect.  As one of the largest 

manufacturers of motor vehicles, GM should have had a reporting system that 

ensured that the General Counsel and Board were aware of serious safety issues 

and cases involving fatalities. The Board failed to create this system. 

123. K&S was among the counsel who represented GM in auto defect 

litigation and communicated often with in-house counsel but apparently not the 

General Counsel.  K&S was also involved in interviewing individuals for the 

Valukas Report. (VR at 15.)    

124. In October 2010, K&S prepared a case evaluation for GM’s in-house 

counsel of a December 31, 2009 Cobalt accident leading to an action filed in 

Nashville, Tennessee, finding that “the failure of the airbags to deploy because of a 

’sensing anomaly’ made this case difficult to defend” (VR at 141), and that “the 

facts and circumstances surrounding the investigation into the sensing system 

‘anomaly’ that may be present in some Cobalts could provide fertile ground for 

laying the foundation for an award for punitive damages, resulting in a 

significantly larger verdict.”  (VR at 142.)  The evaluation in 2010 is the first case 

evaluation to note what K&S lawyers memorialized as a “sensing anomaly” in 

Cobalt vehicles. (VR at 141.) 
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125. It was also from this report that “GM received its first warning from 

outside counsel that it was at risk of being subjected to punitive damages based on 

non-deployment of airbags in the Cobalt.”  (VR at 140.)    

126. The case was discussed during GM’s legal department’s roundtable 

discussion, but little action was taken following the discussion.  There was no 

report to the Company’s General Counsel or the Board, or any of its 

subcommittees.  There was no mechanism to facilitate such communication 

notwithstanding the seriousness of the report.  Stated another way,  the Board 

failed to create a necessary policy or procedure whereby a report from outside 

counsel, which discussed the risk of punitive damages, was not reported to the GM 

General Counsel or to the Board.   

127. As the Valukas Report states, GM had the necessary answers in its 

files from a third party study for many years. (VR at 143.)  But, given the lack of 

executive involvement, even the GM engineers looking into the matter were 

delayed by inattention and lack of assistance.  (VR at 154, 165, 171.)  “There were 

no timetables, no meetings scheduled, and no progress.” (VR at 161.) 

128. After settling the litigation which triggered the warning of punitive 

damages, GM lawyers had no guidelines set by the Board or a mechanism to pass 

this information onto others at GM.  A meeting with engineers to investigate the 
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matter further took six months to arrange.  An investigation was opened but there 

was no Board requirement that this be reported to anyone in the upper echelons at 

GM. (VR at 145.)  There also was “no sense of urgency” attached to the 

investigation.  (VR at 148.) 

129. A second litigation-based punitive damages’ warning was issued by 

K&S in July 2011.  This, too, should have alerted the Board had there been a 

mechanism in place to convey it to the Board’s attention.  (VR at 149.)  By this 

time, GM’s Legal Department had determined that the Cobalt issue needed urgent 

attention.  This conclusion was not conveyed to senior executives or the Board, but 

to low-level investigators.  The Board had set no practice or procedure requiring 

that senior executives and the Board be informed of such important developments.  

(VR at 150.)   

130. In its July 26, 2011 report (the “July 2011 Report”), K&S  highlighted 

the sensing anomaly which it had written about twice before, and noted that John 

Sprague, a GM FPA airbag engineer had seen the problem.  K&S warned of the 

possibility of punitive damages noting that the “facts and circumstances” 

surrounding GM’s investigation of the airbag issue and the sensing anomaly “could 

provide fertile ground for laying the foundation for an award of punitive damages.”  

(VR at 149.)  The case was settled shortly thereafter. 
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131. Once again, GM lacked the reporting procedures sufficient to ensure 

that its significant potential liability was reported to GM’s General Counsel, or the 

Board. 

132. Thereafter, Delphi Mechatronics, provided the Company with proof of 

the ignition switch change.  By late 2013, an investigator, Brian Stouffer, 

(“Stouffer”) finally accepted a conclusion which a Wisconsin State Trooper and 

Indiana University had come to years before, and the recall process started.  (VR at 

209-210.)  This must have alerted GM that it faced significant legal liability, yet 

there was no Board-authorized or Board-created mechanism ensuring that such 

critical information reached Senior Executives and the Board. 

133. In April 2012, another outside law firm detected issues, and likewise 

warned lower-level personnel of exposure to punitive damages. (VR at 167-69.)  

Once again, there was no escalation as none was required by the Board. 

134. In an analysis of a case in which a Cobalt skidded off the road on 

black ice in West Virginia in December 2009, another law firm, Eckert Seamans, 

performed an analysis dated April 18, 2012, which specifically drew the 

connection between the ignition switch issue and the non-deployment of the 

Cobalt’s airbags, and opined, “[s]ince the Cobalt was in the Accessory Mode, 

instead of the Run Mode at the time of the crash, the algorithm that the SDM 
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[sensing diagnostic module] runs to determine whether to deploy the airbags was 

disabled.  Therefore, the SDM was incapable of deploying the airbags, regardless 

of the severity of the impact.”  (VR at 168.)  

135. The report stated that if GM chose to litigate the action, “GM will also 

be forced to contend with other incidents, some of which resulted in deaths, due to 

the non-deployment of the frontal airbags in the 2005-2007 Cobalt.  Those other 

incidents put GM at risk for imposition of punitive damages in West Virginia.”  Id. 

136. Although the case was discussed at a legal department roundtable, 

neither the General Counsel nor the Board was informed of Eckert Seaman’s 

conclusion or its warning of potential punitive damages. 

137. In June 2012, GM was provided with yet another warning when Erin 

M. Shipp, the plaintiff’s expert in a crash case pending against GM, issued an 

expert report in connection with a different litigation. Ms. Shipp opined based 

upon publicly available documents that the Cobalt’s airbags would not deploy 

when the ignition was in the accessory position. 

138. As Shipp concluded, “I reviewed 2005 Chevrolet Cobalt wiring 

diagrams and have found the air bag system is active in the start/run and crank/run 

ignition positions but not active in the accessory position.”  (VR at 181.)  Shipp 

referenced the Indiana University Report and crash reports on the NHTSA website, 
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and found, “General Motors’ improper design resulted in a vehicle that was 

defective in a manner that caused the airbags to not deploy in a crash that General 

Motors has determine should have had an airbag deployment.”  (VR at 182.) 

139. As concluded by Valukas, the Shipp report made clear that an expert, 

with limited access to GM information, had made the connection between the 

Ignition Switch and airbag non-deployment before GM personnel.” (Id.)  In light 

of the Shipp report, GM’s outside counsel, in July 2012, advised the Legal 

Department that GM would lose the case and that “as time goes by, and the Cobalt 

investigation remains unresolved, the verdict exposure will increase and the 

defense of the case will become more complicated.”  (Id. at 183.)  

140. Nevertheless, the investigation continued at its lethargic pace, with 

Stouffer trying to explain every single non-deployment.  (VR at 185.)  Once again, 

neither Millikin nor the Board put in place any procedure or practice that ensured 

that the General Counsel and the Board were informed of this critical information.  

141. In August 2012, Eckert Seamans submitted yet another case 

evaluation to the GM legal department which connected the ignition switch issue 

to the non-deployment of airbags.  (VR at 190.) 

142. This case involved an accident on August 12, 2012.  In an email 

discussing its evaluation, Eckert Seamans wrote, “[i]t is pretty straightforward on 



 

 50 

 

the non-deployment of the air bag.  It is a deployment level event but the Vehicle 

Power Mode Status was in “Accessory” when AE occurred.  It normally would be 

in the “Run” position.  Somehow the key cylinder put the vehicle into “Accessory” 

mode which would cause the air bags not to deploy. GM as seen this is [sic] a few 

other matters.   NHTSA has also commented on the type of situation in a Cobalt.  

GM has worked/is working on a fix for it.”  (VR at 190-191.)  The case settled 

with neither Millikin nor the Board being informed.  The investigation continued. 

143. In April 2013, plaintiffs’ expert, Mark Hood in the Brooke Melton 

fatality case determined, from his own inspection and comparison of Cobalts in a 

junkyard, that the ignition switch had been changed in 2006.  (VR at 194.)  In light 

of Hood’s analysis, Stouffer finally accepted the conclusion that a Wisconsin State 

Trooper and Indiana University had come to years earlier.  (Id.) 

144. In May 2013, K&S submitted a second case evaluation in the Melton 

fatality case.  In that evaluation, K&S concluded that a jury would almost 

“certainly” find that the Ignition Switch was unreasonably dangerous, and that low 

torque would lead to the inadvertent shutting off of the engine.  (VR at 203.) 

145. The Melton case was eventually settled for the $5 million maximum 

which the settlement roundtable could authorize without General Counsel 
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approval.  Thus, neither Millikin nor the Board was told of K&S’s conclusions or 

the evaluation of Subbaiah Malladi (“Malladi”) (discussed below).  

146. “By the end of 2013, the Cobalt Ignition Switch had finally reached 

GM’s committee that considers recalls (the EFADC [Executive Field Action 

Decision Committee]), but once there, more questions were raised about root 

cause, and the decision-makers were hamstrung by a lack of accurate data about 

what vehicles were affected and how many people may have been impacted by the 

defect.”  (VR at 194.)  The FPE Investigation was stuck as GM would not accept 

the obvious resolution which was a recall.  (Id. at 196.)   Moreover, senior 

managers at GM, such as John Calabrese, Vice President of Global Vehicle 

Engineering (GM’s chief engineer) did not want to incur the several thousand 

dollars in expert fees necessary to hire an outside expert.  (Id. at 197.)  In fact, 

Malladi was hired as the expert to investigate the issue for a specific case, but was 

directed to be retained by outside counsel in order to save money and cloak his 

analysis with the attorney-client privilege. (VR at 198.) 

147. This “phenomenon of avoiding responsibility” was so institutionalized 

and pervasive throughout GM that it was known by employees throughout the 

Company as “the ‘GM salute,’” described as “a crossing of the arms and pointing 
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outward towards others, indicating that the responsibility belongs to someone else, 

not me.”  (VR at 255.) 

148.  Barra, herself, was aware of GM’s culture of deception and 

avoidance and she described to Valukas GM’s institutionalized corporate policy  

“known as the ‘GM nod,” which was “when everyone nods in agreement to a 

proposed plan of action, but then leaves the room with no intention to follow 

through, and the nod is an empty gesture.”  (VR at 256.) 

149. Serious problems in large companies usually first set off alarm bells in 

legal departments.  Ensuring the escalation of these issues up the chain of 

command is not a complex process.   Legal Risk Management guidelines issued by 

the Association of Corporate Counsel provide instructions for “Reporting to Senior 

Management”: 

Appropriate law department representatives meet quarterly with 

business unit heads (and other company control executives) to review 

the status of high risk matters in the business unit and recommend 

appropriate action steps. 

The general counsel and appropriate law department managers meet 

quarterly to review the status and management of high risk matters in 

the company and identify appropriate action steps.
5
  

                                           
5
  Association of Corporate Counsel, “How To Assess Legal Risk 

Management Practices”, Sept. 2008, at ¶¶ 34-35, available at: 

http://www.acc.com/advocacy/valuechallenge/toolkit/upload/Assess-Legal-Risk 

Management2.pdf. 
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150. The Board, however, failed to adopt the necessary policies, or to put a 

sufficient system in place that would have led to the necessary procedures and 

instead affirmatively disabled the process before it bore fruit. 

151. In sum, the system put in place by the Board, did not require that 

serious defects detected by these sources be reported to the Board.  It did not 

mandate reporting to the Board findings by GM’s attorneys even where punitive 

damages were likely.  The system did not even mandate that such matters be 

reported to the CEO or the General Counsel.  The Valukas Report states that “the 

story of the Cobalt is one in which GM personnel failed to raise significant issues 

to key decision-makers.  Senior attorneys did not elevate the issue within the legal 

chain of command to the General Counsel even after receiving the [redacted] 

evaluation in the summer of 2013 that warned of the risk of punitive damages.” 

(VR at 253.)  The Board prevented this from happening by failing to put into place 

common procedures and policies for the escalation of issues involving serious 

defects, large investigations, and punitive damages.    

d. The Board Removes the Chief Risk Officer 

152. On August 3, 2010, the Finance and Risk Committee was created.  

According to the Company’s Proxy Statement filed on April 21, 2011, the Finance 
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and Risk Committee membership consisted of defendants Bonderman, Girsky, 

Krebs, Laskawy, and Russo.  According to GM’s Proxy Statement filed with the 

SEC on April 26, 2012, defendants Bonderman, Girsky, Krebs, Laskawy, and 

Marinello were on the Finance and Risk Committee in 2011.  Defendant Schoewe 

was appointed to the Finance and Risk Committee on March 20, 2012. 

153. In the 2010 “General Motors Company Finance and Risk Policy 

Committee Charter” (the “Risk Charter”)
6
, the Director Defendants recognized that 

the Company lacked risk oversight, and that it had to “review internal systems of 

formal and informal communication across business units and control functions to 

encourage the prompt and coherent flow of risk-related information and, as needed, 

escalation of information to management (and to the Committee and Board as 

appropriate).” 

154. The Risk Charter further indicated that an area for review was 

“potential coverage gaps and reporting lines of authority” noting that a review 

needed to be undertaken to determine whether such gaps in reporting and authority 

were “appropriate given the Company’s size and scope of operations.” 

                                           
6
  The Risk Charter is dated August 3, 2010.  Despite the name discrepancy, 

this is the charter for the Finance and Risk Committee. 
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169.  

 

          

 

170.  

 

 

        

 

 

       
 

171.  

   

        

 

    There remained no sense of 

urgency.  (See VR at 4, 7, 9, 211.) 

172. At this juncture,  
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173.  

 

 

 

174. The evidence shows  

 

   

   

 

   

 

  The job of a GA includes objective review of the proper 

functioning of risk management.  In other words, the GA is the person the 

Company looks to for an objective assessment as to whether the risk management 

function is working.  Thus, Thelen’s position called for him to audit himself, a 

blatant conflict of interest.  Corporate governance experts have identified 

appointing the GA as CRO as bad corporate governance.   

175.  As noted by the Institute of Internal Auditors (“IIA”) in a 2004 

position paper: 
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Internal auditing may extend its involvement in ERM [Enterprise Risk 

Management]...provided certain conditions apply.  The conditions are: 

 

 It should be clear that management remains responsible 

for risk management. 

 

 The nature of internal auditor’s responsibilities should be 

documented in the internal audit charter and approved by 

the audit committee. 

 

 Internal auditing should not manage any of the risks on 

behalf of management. 

 

 Internal auditing should provide advice, challenge and 

support to management’s decision making, as opposed to 

taking risk management decisions themselves. 

 

 Internal auditing cannot also give objective assurance on 

any part of the ERM framework for which it is 

responsible. Such assurance should be provided by other 

suitably qualified parties.  

 

176. GM’s Board intentionally violated all of these principles when it 

shifted the CRO role into the hands of the already overburdened GA, a person who 

could not “give objective assurance” that risk management systems for which he 

was responsible were working properly.  The Board no longer had a dedicated and 

independent CRO overseeing risk management at GM.  The Board knew this, and 

consciously disregarded this glaring omission in basic oversight. 
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177. This was not the only oversight.  
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178.  
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e. The Board Eliminates the Finance and Risk Committee 

180. Further evidence of the Board’s conscious destruction of the risk 

management function is its 2012 decision to eliminate the Finance and Risk 

Committee, which according to the GM’s Schedule 14A filed with the SEC on 

April 25, 2013 (“2013 Proxy”) “had responsibility for assisting the Board in its 

oversight of our risk management strategies and policies . . ..” 2013 Proxy at 23.  

The Company’s Finance and Risk Committee had been touted in a report entitled 

“Best Practice Risk Committees” dated May/June 2012 by ERM Strategies, a 

consulting and research firm which provides enterprise risk management services.  

The report concluded that: “Companies that have formed board-level risk 

committee demonstrate a strong argument on why their risk oversight functions 

more effectively than those lacking committees.  By actively exercising its 

oversight role, the board sends an important message to the company's senior 
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management and its employees that corporate risk management activities are not 

roadblocks to conducting business.”  

181.  

     

 

 

   

 

 

) 

 

 

 

 

 

.   

182.  

facilitated an environment and culture that discouraged individuals from raising 

safety concerns and reporting them to senior management.  As Barra has stated, 
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“[s]omething went very wrong in our process in this instance, and terrible things 

happened.”  See New York Times March 17, 2014 article. 

183. It was only on June 5, 2014, that defendant Solso announced that GM 

would create a dedicated “stand alone” risk committee.   

 

 

184. One risk management expert notes: “oftentimes, audit committees are 

already working at maximum capacity just handling audit matters, and are unable 

to properly oversee ERM as well.”
7
  Governance and risk expert Henry Ristuccia 

affirms that Audit Committees “have enough trouble getting through the regular 

audit-committee agenda without having risk management tossed at them, too.  

Either the audit committee improves its grasp of risk management or a separate 

risk committee needs to be formed.”
8
 

                                           
7
  J. Lam, Enterprise Risk Management: From Incentives to Controls (Wiley 

Finance), p. 58. 

8
  Quoted in Russ Banham “Disaster Averted?” CFO Magazine, April 1, 2011, 

at 2.  Mr. Ristuccia is a Partner at Deloitte & Touche LLP and Global Leader, 

Governance, Risk and Compliance Services. The article is available at: 

http://ww2.cfo.com/risk-compliance/2011/04/disaster-averted/view-all/ 
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185.       
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187.  

 

 

 

 

 

   

188. As noted by Senator McCaskill during Barra’s April 2, 2014 

testimony before the U.S. Senate:  “It might have been the ‘Old GM’ that started 

sweeping this defect under the rug 10 years ago.  Even under the ‘New GM’ 

banner, the company waited nine months to take action after being confronted with 

specific evidence of this egregious violation of public trust.”  

189. Defendant Solso admitted to The New York Times, “[y]es, we should 

have known earlier…The way I look at it, G.M. has not been well run for a long 

period of time.”  

190. On June 12, 2014, GM filed a Form 8-K with the SEC disclosing that 

on June 10, 2014, the Board  had belatedly approved amendments to GM’s bylaws 
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creating the Operating Risk Committee as a standing committee of the Board 

“responsible for assisting the board of directors in its oversight with respect to 

management’s identification, evaluation and management of the Company’s major 

operating risk exposures and the Company’s policies and procedures for ensuring 

vehicle safety, employee health and safety, product quality, cybersecurity, 

protection of intellectual property, and other mitigation and remediation processes 

for risks related to operations.” 

191. GM’s risk management failures have drawn considerable commentary 

from risk management experts.  Professor Steven Slezak, writing for the 

publication Global Risk Insights, noted: 

GM did not take its own risk management process seriously…. It can 

be argued GM violated most if not all the components of its Risk 

Management Process…. No one in the firm seems to have owned this 

particular risk [managing and reporting quality defects], so no plans 

appear to have been developed to manage it.  A feedback loop appears 

not to exist.[ ] 

 

192. The Board’s conscious dereliction of its duty was responsible for 

creating this situation.  It refused to develop a mandatory reporting system, or to 

develop a stand-alone risk committee (even though it was evident that GM’s risk 

management could not be a part time job).  When it did assign “risk” to a 

committee as an articulated responsibility (among other disparate responsibilities), 
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“[I]t is unacceptable the way things broke down, and that is why we have made 

dramatic process changes.”   

194. Instead of being concerned with setting up appropriate risk 

management procedures, GM’s  

 

 

  

 

    

  

.   

DEMAND FUTILITY ALLEGATIONS 

 

195. Plaintiffs bring this action derivatively in the right and for the benefit 

of GM pursuant to Court of Chancery Rule 23.1, to redress injuries suffered and to 

be suffered by the Company as a result of Director Defendants’ violations of their 

fiduciary obligations.   

196. Plaintiffs will adequately and fairly represent the interests of GM and 

its stockholders in enforcing the Company’s rights. 
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197. Plaintiffs have not made any demand on the Board to institute this 

action because such a demand would be a futile, wasteful, and useless act as 

described below.  At the time of the filing of the initial complaints, there were 11 

members of the board; there are now 12 members of the board.  A majority of the 

Board at all relevant times was interested, lacked independence, or faced a 

substantial threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged herein and therefore 

and would not have been able to impartially consider a demand by Plaintiffs. 

198. Defendants Barra and Girsky are inside directors.  Barra is and was a 

senior officer of GM.  Due to her interestedness as a longtime insider of the 

company with deep knowledge of the engineering and marketing areas which were 

affected by the faulty ignition switch, Barra in particular, was incapable of 

impartially considering a stockholders demand.  Similarly, Girsky served in 

various senior positions at GM, including as interim president of GM Europe and 

as Vice Chairman of Corporate Strategy, Business Development, Global Product 

Planning, and Corporate Strategy and Business Development. The two insider 

directors are by definition interested and therefore could not impartially consider a 

demand. 
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The Audit Committee Members Face a Substantial Threat of Personal 

Liability as to the Conduct Alleged Herein to Compromise Their Ability 

to Act Impartially on a Demand   

199. The members of the Board who sit on the Audit Committee are 

conflicted from adequately considering a stockholder demand.  These defendants 

include, defendants Davis, Isdell, Marinello, Mullen, and Schoewe.  Davis, Isdell, 

and Marinello were also members of the Old GM. 

200.  The Audit Committee Charter states in relevant parts: 

The purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the GM Board of 

Directors in its oversight of the integrity of GM’s financial 

statements, GM’s compliance with legal and regulatory 

requirements, the qualifications and independence of the external 

auditors and the performance of GM’s internal audit staff and 

external auditors. 

*  *  * 

The Committee shall: 

*  *  * 

review GM’s policies and compliance procedures regarding 

ethics and legal risk; 

*  *  * 

Review management’s assessment of legal and regulatory risks 

identified in GM’s compliance programs. 

*  *  * 

Discuss policies regarding risk assessment and risk management. 

Such discussions should include GM’s major financial and 
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accounting risk exposures and actions taken to mitigate these 

risks. 

201. These directors, Davis, Isdell, Marinello, Mullen, and Schoewe, were 

therefore responsible for ensuring that GM had adequate policies and compliance 

procedures regarding legal and regulatory risk as well as risk assessment and risk 

management.  These responsibilities include those mandated by the Safety Act and 

the Tread Act (see infra ¶¶ 43, 47, 75).  

202. As detailed herein (see infra ¶¶ 78, 83, 84, 85, 93, 94, 97, 98, 100, 

103, 114, 116), Directors Defendants have failed to uphold their duties to comply 

with legal and regulatory reporting requirements.  In addition, Plaintiffs have also 

alleged Director Defendants’ failures to have necessary policies and compliance 

procedures regarding legal and regulatory risk, as well as risk assessment and risk 

management (see infra ¶¶ 81, 110, 111, 120, 124).  

203. As a result of their responsibilities as members of the Audit 

Committee and as a result of their failures in this regard, defendants Davis, Isdell, 

Marinello, Mullen, and Schoewe face a sufficiently substantial threat of personal 

liability as to the conduct alleged in this complaint to compromise their ability to 

act impartially on a demand. 
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204. Of these members of the Audit Committee, defendants Davis, Isdell, 

and Marinello joined the GM Board in July 2009 and thus face substantial liability 

for violations of their audit committee fiduciary duties during the entire Relevant 

Period including the failures in regulatory reporting as well as failures in risk 

management such as the elimination of a dedicated CRO and elimination of the 

Finance Risk Committee.  Davis, Isdell, and Marinello were also members of the 

board of Old GM.  

205.  Defendant Mullen joined the Board in February 2013 and thus faces 

substantial liability for violations of his duties since that time including continued 

failures of regulatory reporting and risk assessment and oversight. Similarly, 

defendant Schoewe joined the Board in November 2011 and thus, faces substantial 

liability for violations of his duties since that time including continued failures of 

regulatory reporting and risk assessment and oversight as well as failures in risk 

management such as the elimination of a dedicated CRO and dissolution of the 

Finance Risk Committee.  

The Board Members Face a Sufficiently Substantial Threat of Personal 

Liability, as to the Conduct Alleged Herein, to Compromise Their 

Ability to Act Impartially on a Demand   

206. In addition, the actions taken by members of the Board cannot be 

considered to be the result of valid business judgment.  The challenged actions 
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include the dissolution of the Finance and Risk Committee; the elimination of a 

dedicated CRO; the creation of policy whereby serious defects detected by various 

Company sources were not reported to the Board; the lack of a process to ensure 

that regulators were timely notified of events that required notification and the 

Board’s failure to create a policy whereby litigation matters which involved 

punitive damages were specifically not reported to the Board. 

207. In 2012, as discussed above, the Risk and Finance Committee was 

dissolved and some key responsibilities previously delegated to, though not 

necessarily performed by the committee were never re-assigned to the Audit 

Committee.  In addition, as discussed infra, the dedicated CRO position was also 

eliminated and his duties transferred to an overly-burdened GA. 

208. Director Defendants each owed GM and its stockholders the highest 

fiduciary duties of loyalty and good faith in managing and administering the 

Company’s affairs including a fiduciary duty to adopt internal information and 

reporting systems that are reasonably designed to provide to senior management 

and the Board itself, with timely, accurate information sufficient to allow 

management and the Board, within the scope of their duties, to reach informed 

decisions concerning the Company’s compliance with the law and its business 

performance.  As alleged herein, the Director Defendants failed to adopt such a 
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system and/or to the extent they claim they had implemented such system or 

controls, consciously failed to monitor or oversee its operations, thus disabling 

themselves from being informed of risks or problems requiring their attention. 

209. As a result of their actions the current Director Defendants face a 

sufficiently substantial threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this 

complaint to compromise their ability to act impartially on a demand.  

210. Given the length of tenure of the various directors that spanned from 

the beginning of New GM as it emerged from bankruptcy, and in some cases from 

Old GM to New GM, certain Director Defendants were particularly aware of the 

necessity of an ERM framework at GM.  Current Director Defendants who were 

also on the Old GM Board are defendants Davis, Isdell, and Marinello.  Current 

Director Defendants who were members of the Board since 2009 are defendants 

Davis, Girsky, Isdell, Marinello, and Russo.     

211. In fact, the Company’s public filings from the beginning of the 

Relevant Period make clear that it was known to the Board that the Company faced 

challenges in the areas of controls, safety, and reputation.  For example, the 

Company’s November 2010 Amendment No. 9 to Form S-1 Registration 

Statement (the “November 2010 Registration Statement”), specifically notes that 

GM faced the risk that its management lacked experience in the automotive 
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industry, stating, “[t]he ability of our new executive management team to quickly 

learn the automotive industry and lead our company will be critical to our ability to 

succeed.  Within the past year we have substantially changed our executive 

management team.  We have elected a new chief executive officer who will start 

Sept. 1, 2010, and a new chief financial officer who started on Jan. 1, 2010, both of 

whom have no outside automotive industry experience.” 

212. The November 2010 Registration Statement also acknowledges the 

risk of engaging in recalls, noting, “[t]he cost and effect on our reputation of 

product recalls could materially adversely affect our business”, and explaining that 

“recalls cause consumers to question the safety or reliability of our products.”  The 

safety risk was reiterated in the Company’s Form 10-K for the period ended 

December 31, 2011 (the “2011 10-K”). 

213. ERM is a key concept in automobile manufacturing, and in most 

corporations in the United States and worldwide. This term encompasses methods 

and processes of risk management, typically creating a framework to identify 

certain risks and opportunities that are relevant to a company’s objectives, 

assessing these risks and opportunities, and determining a strategy to respond to or 

accommodate these risks and opportunities, and monitoring the progress of the 
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Company in achieving financial goals in light of these ongoing risks and 

opportunities.  

214. The very nature of the auto industry and the attendant liability for 

deaths or injuries due to automobile accidents and crashes has a real impact on a 

company’s bottom line.  This impact can take many forms, from an effect on 

present and future sales, the cost of recalls to a company, the cost of a company to 

take on debt and borrow, to issue securities, and a company’s overall reputation 

and integrity.  A robust ERM process is thus highly necessary to a multi-risk 

company such as GM in achieving its goals by providing strategies to avoid, 

reduce, transfer, or otherwise minimize the risk.   

215. Given the nature of GM’s business and the complex risk and 

regulatory environment, as well as the long tenure of many of the Board members 

as discussed above, the challenged actions taken by the Board cannot be 

considered the result of valid business judgment, including the dissolution of the 

Finance and Risk Committee and the elimination of a dedicated CRO. 

216. In addition, it is inexplicable that the Board did not have in place 

procedures whereby serious defects or resulting lawsuits resulting therefrom would 

be reported to the Board and/or the General Counsel or that the Board or the Audit 

Committee did not insure timely and proper regulatory filings. 
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217.  Automobile manufacturers sometimes sell defective products to 

consumers.  Many years of experience have shown that these defects soon become 

apparent through consumer complaints, accidents and lawsuits.  Such accidents are 

investigated internally by automobile manufacturers, law enforcement agencies, 

academics, consumer protection organizations, and experts hired by plaintiffs' 

counsel on behalf of accident victims.  Any and all of these sources can identify a 

serious product defect and, if they do, there should be defect reporting standards 

and procedures in place that are followed by all employees without fear of 

retaliation.  These standards must be designed so that matters of such gravity are 

immediately reported to the Company’s senior executives and its board.   

218.  

 

 

 

 

. 

219. In addition, the Board failed to institute a board reporting mechanism 

whereby GM attorneys would report acts so blameworthy that punitive damages 

were likely warranted. This was confirmed by the Valukas Report.  (VR at 253.) 
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220. These actions and decisions are not reasonable exercises of business 

judgment.  The Director Defendants herein, have a fiduciary duty to adopt internal 

information and reporting systems that are reasonably designed to provide to senior 

management and the board itself, with timely, accurate information sufficient to 

allow management and the Board, within the scope of their duties, to reach 

informed decisions concerning the corporation’s compliance with the law and its 

business performance.  A violation of a director's obligations of oversight requires:  

(1) that directors fail to implement any reporting or information systems or 

controls; or (2) if they have implemented such controls, they consciously fail to 

monitor or oversee the corporation's operations thus disabling them from being 

informed of risks or problems requiring their attention.  In other words, they have 

engaged in a sustained a systemic failure to exercise oversight.  Moreover, they 

create a substantial risk of liability.  

221. This Board was laden with individuals who came to GM with high-

level experience from other endeavors where they navigate similar complex risk 

and regulatory environments and which have implemented effective risk-

management systems and controls for those companies.  These defendants are thus 

fully informed of both the necessity of ERM in corporations of a size and business 

such as GM, and the manner in which such frameworks are set up, executed, and 
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monitored.   As discussed herein, these defendants include Davis, Isdell, Marinello, 

Mullen, Mulva, Russo, Schoewe, Solso, and Stephenson. 

222. For example, defendant Davis served on a board of directors at Union 

Pacific Corporation that oversaw an aggressive Compliance and Ethics program 

that touched on economic, labor, security and safety regulations, implementing 

best practices for Operations, Environmental, Chemical Transportation, Security, 

Medical, and Claims departments.  At Alliant Energy, Davis oversaw, as President 

and CEO, a dedicated ERM staff and ERM structure, including a network 

throughout Alliant Energy with an active monitoring system of that company’s 

business units and risk assessment and management capabilities, including 

mitigation, measurement, and reporting strategies.  

223. Defendant Isdell served as the Chairman (2004-2009) and Chief 

Executive Officer (2004-2008) of the Coca-Cola Company.   He is currently the 

Vice Chairman of DGM Bank & Trust Inc. 

224.   Defendant Marinello is a director of AB Volvo; chairman and chief 

executive officer Ceridian Corporation (2006-2007) and as President and Chief 

Executive officer of GE Fleet Services, a division of GE (2002-2006).  Marinello is 

also currently a Senior Advisor to Ares Management LP, a SEC registered 

investment advisor to Ares Capital Corporation, a publicly traded company that 
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provides financing for middle market acquisitions, recapitalizations, and leveraged 

buyouts. 

225. Defendant Mullen is a Retired Chairman, Joint Chiefs of Staff and 

also serves on the Board of Directors of Sprint Corporation. 

226. Defendant Mulva is Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer 

of ConocoPhillips (2004-2008).  Mulva is a director of General Electric Company 

and Statoil ASA.    

227. Defendant Russo is the Chief Executive Officer of Alcatel-Lucent 

from 2006-2008.  She is currently a director of Alcoa, Inc., Hewlett-Packard 

Company, KKR Management LLC, and Merck & Co. Inc. Russo served as a 

director of Schering-Plough Corporation from 1995 until its merger with Merck & 

Co. Inc. in 2009. 

228. Defendant Schoewe is the Chief Executive Officer of Alcatel-Lucent 

from 2006-2008.  She is currently a director of Alcoa, Inc., Hewlett-Packard 

Company, KKR Management LLC, and Merck & Co. Inc. Russo served as a 

director of Schering-Plough Corporation from 1995 until its merger with Merck & 

Co. Inc. in 2009. 
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229. Defendant Solso was the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 

Cummins, Inc.  Solso is also a director of Ball Corporation.  He is a former board 

member at Amoco Corporation. 

230. Defendant Stephenson is the President and Chief Executive Officer of 

Lucent Technologies Canada from 1999-2003.  She is also currently a director of 

Ballard Power Systems, Inc.; Manitoba Telecom Services, Inc.; and Intact 

Financial Corporation. 

231. Therefore, at minimum, the above-mentioned defendants were fully 

informed that a valid exercise of business judgment could not possibly entail the 

challenged actions of the Board, namely, the dissolution of the Finance and Risk 

Committee; the elimination of a dedicated CRO; and the Board’s failure to create a 

policy whereby serious defects detected by various Company sources were 

reported to the Board as well as litigation matters which would incur punitive 

damages.  

Further Allegations Regarding the Board’s Inability to Consider a 

Demand 

 

232. As discussed above, defendant Davis, acting as a member of the Audit 

Committee faces a sufficiently substantial threat of personal liability as to the 

conduct alleged in this complaint to compromise his ability to act impartially on a 
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demand.  In addition, particularly in light of Davis’ long tenure at GM and at Old 

GM and in light of Davis’ experience at other companies with complex risk 

management, the above-detailed challenged actions taken by Davis as a member of 

the Board cannot be considered the result of valid business judgment for the 

reasons explained above and thus Davis faces a sufficiently substantial threat of 

personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this complaint to compromise his 

ability to act impartially on a demand. 

233. Defendant Isdell, acting as a member of the Audit Committee faces a 

sufficiently substantial threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this 

complaint to compromise his ability to act impartially on a demand.  In addition, 

particularly in light of Isdell’s long tenure at GM and at Old GM and in light of 

Isdell’s experience at other companies with complex risk management, the above-

detailed challenged actions taken by Isdell as a member of the Board cannot be 

considered the result of valid business judgment for the reasons explained above 

and thus Isdell faces a sufficiently substantial threat of personal liability as to the 

conduct alleged in this complaint to compromise his ability to act impartially on a 

demand. 

234. Defendant Marinello, acting as a member of the Audit Committee 

faces a sufficiently substantial threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged 
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in this complaint to compromise her ability to act impartially on a demand.  In 

addition, particularly in light of Marinello’s long tenure at GM and at Old GM and 

in light of Marinello’s experience at other companies with complex risk 

management, the above-detailed challenged actions taken by Marinello as a 

member of the Board cannot be considered the result of valid business judgment 

for the reasons explained above and thus Marinello faces a sufficiently substantial 

threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this complaint to 

compromise her ability to act impartially on a demand. 

235. Defendant Mullen, acting as a member of the Audit Committee faces 

a sufficiently substantial threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this 

complaint to compromise his ability to act impartially on a demand.  In addition, 

particularly in light of Mullen’s experience at other organizations with complex 

risk management, the above-detailed challenged actions taken by Mullen as a 

member of the Board cannot be considered the result of valid business judgment 

for the reasons explained above and thus Mullen faces a sufficiently substantial 

threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this complaint to 

compromise his ability to act impartially on a demand. 

236. In light of Mulva’s experience at other companies with complex risk 

management, the above-detailed challenged actions taken by Mulva as a member 
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of the Board cannot be considered the result of valid business judgment for the 

reasons explained above and thus Mulva faces a sufficiently substantial threat of 

personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this complaint to compromise his 

ability to act impartially on a demand. 

237. Particularly in light of Russo’s long tenure at GM and in light of 

Russo’s experience at other companies with complex risk management, the above-

detailed challenged actions taken by Russo as a member of the Board cannot be 

considered the result of valid business judgment for the reasons explained above 

and thus Russo faces a sufficiently substantial threat of personal liability as to the 

conduct alleged in this complaint to compromise her ability to act impartially on a 

demand. 

238. Defendant Schoewe, acting as a member of the Audit Committee 

faces a sufficiently substantial threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged 

in this complaint to compromise his ability to act impartially on a demand.  In 

addition, particularly in light of Schoewe’s experience at other companies with 

complex risk management, the above-detailed challenged actions taken by 

Schoewe as a member of the Board cannot be considered the result of valid 

business judgment for the reasons explained above and thus Schoewe faces a 
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sufficiently substantial threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this 

complaint to compromise his ability to act impartially on a demand. 

239. Particularly in light of Solso’s experience at other companies with 

complex risk management, the above-detailed challenged actions taken by Solso as 

a member of the Board cannot be considered the result of valid business judgment 

for the reasons explained above and thus Solso faces a sufficiently substantial 

threat of personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this complaint to 

compromise his ability to act impartially on a demand. 

240. Particularly in light of Stephenson’s long tenure at GM and in light of 

Stephenson’s experience at other companies with complex risk management, the 

above-detailed challenged actions taken by Stephenson as a member of the Board 

cannot be considered the result of valid business judgment for the reasons 

explained above and thus Stephenson faces a sufficiently substantial threat of 

personal liability as to the conduct alleged in this complaint to compromise her 

ability to act impartially on a demand. 

241. In addition, where directors, such as the Director Defendants here, 

engage in a sustained and systemic failure to exercise oversight, particularly in 

light of the absence of sufficient reporting procedures, they have acted in bad faith.  
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Such conduct is not exculpated under Section 102(b)(7) of the Delaware  General 

Corporate Law. 

242. The Director Defendants, consisting of both those who sat on the 

Board of GM before and after the bankruptcy deliberately failed to institute 

adequate and sufficient reporting processes such that they were assured that GM 

was in compliance with its regulatory reporting requirements. 

243. The Director Defendants, consisting of both those who sat on the 

Board of GM before and after the bankruptcy also deliberately failed to institute 

adequate and sufficient reporting processes such that they were assured that they 

were apprised of legal cases involving fatalities in GM vehicles and of cases where 

the company was potentially liable for punitive damages.  

244. In addition, as  set forth above and in the Valukas Report, GM lacked 

sufficient reporting and other procedures, which; (1) would quickly escalate a 

serious defect to those senior managers and Board members who had authority to 

issue a recall; (2) would enable various divisions of GM to communicate with each 

other such that engineers and the legal department, for instance, would be able to 

use their respective knowledge to resolve a serious defect issue; (3) would require 

that all the various divisions of GM maintain one repository of information about a 

particular vehicle defect such that the Company could make an informed decision  
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regarding whether to issue a recall; and (4) would ensure that those employees 

constituted the TREAD Act group, and others who interacted and had reporting 

obligations to various regulators, had the most up to date and accurate information 

about defects in the Company’s vehicles. 

245. The Board’s ensuring of the efficiency and efficacy of GM’s reporting 

procedures was particularly important given GM’s well known culture of 

information silos and blame. 

246. To the extent that GM did have reporting procedures and processes, 

the Director Defendants, whether they sat on the GM before or after its 

Bankruptcy, further had the fiduciary obligations to monitor and oversee these 

reporting procedures 

247. Where directors have engaged in bad faith conduct, as here, in which 

they have failed to act in the face of a known duty to act, there is a substantial 

likelihood that they may be held liable for the challenged conduct. 

248. Demand is excused because the acts and practices alleged herein 

cannot be defended by the Director Defendants and are not subject to the 

protection of the business judgment rule. 

249. Demand is excused because the wrongs alleged herein constitute 

violations of the fiduciary duties owed by GM’s board, and are incapable of 
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ratification by the current board. The Director Defendants are subject to liability 

for breaching their fiduciary duties to GM by failing to detect, prevent, and halt the 

violations of law complained of herein.  

250. Demand is also excused because insurance policies covering the 

liability of a company's officers and directors purport to exclude legal claims 

asserted directly by the company against such persons. Thus, there was, and is, a 

substantial disincentive for the Board to cause GM to bring any action directly 

against Director Defendants. Generally, under the terms of such directors' and 

officers' insurance policies, a company would be required by the carriers to 

cooperate in the defense of any claims, such as the present action, which seek to 

impose liability upon certain officer and directors of GM, including the defendants 

in this action, for misconduct and mismanagement. Thus, if the policy or policies 

which GM maintains contain the foregoing provision, the insurance carriers would 

argue that GM and its Board of Directors are thereby contractually disabled from 

complying with any demand that would cause GM to institute, and/or prosecute 

any action against the defendants for such misconduct and mismanagement, 

because to do so could result in the loss of GM's insurance. 

251. Thus, there is no question, under various analyses, that a majority of 

the board had a disabling conflict and could not impartially consider a demand. 
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Demand is therefore futile.  In this regard, the Company's 2013 Form 10-K sets 

forth certain of GM's legal responsibilities.  It notes in pertinent part: 

In the U.S. if a vehicle or vehicle equipment does not comply with a 

safety standard or if a vehicle defect creates an unreasonable safety 

risk the manufacturer is required to notify owners and provide a 

remedy.  We are required to report certain information relating to 

certain customer complaints, warranty claims, field reports and 

notices and claims involving property damage, injuries and fatalities 

in the U.S. and claims involving fatalities outside the U.S.  We are 

also required to report certain information concerning safety recalls 

and other safety campaigns outside the U.S. 

 

252. The members of GM's Board were aware that they were entrusted 

with ensuring the safety of the millions of people throughout the world who 

purchase and drive GM vehicles.  They knew that un-remediated defects could cost 

lives or cause injuries.  As fiduciaries to a Company that makes potentially 

dangerous products, the Board's oversight duties are heightened.  Moreover, these 

directors knew that GM's business and profits rested upon both the perception and 

the reality that GM products were safe.  GM has worked many years overcoming a 

reputation that its vehicles were inferior to those made by competitors.  The Board 

knew that reputational damage would affect the Company's ability to sell vehicles 

and also its profitability, indefinitely.  Moreover, the Director Defendants knew 

that GM had barely survived the financial crisis, and that employees would be 

reluctant in these circumstances to report risks that might threaten GM's financial 
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rebound.  Finally, the Board was aware of the risk faced by auto companies that do 

not remediate product defects.  These risks range from regulatory rebukes to 

lawsuits that might result in punitive awards, all the way up to criminal fines and 

prosecutions. 

253.  

 

 

 

254. The Director Defendants will not be able to hide behind the Valukas 

Report as Valukas, as discussed above, was not asked to determine if there was 

board liability.  Instead, as part of his mandate, he was asked to determine, the 

Board’s knowledge of the ignition switch defects.  Unfortunately for GM and its 

stockholders, Valukas found that they had insufficient reporting procedures 

resulting in massive recalls, fines, litigation and possible criminal responsibilities. 

CAUSE OF ACTION 

Against All Defendants 

For Breaches of Fiduciary Duties of Loyalty and Good Faith 

255. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference all prior paragraphs as if fully set 

forth herein. 
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256.  Defendants each owed GM and its stockholders the highest fiduciary 

duties of loyalty and good faith in managing and administering the Company’s 

affairs. 

257. Defendants were required to exercise good faith judgment that GM’s 

information and reporting systems were in concept and design adequate to assure 

the board that appropriate information will come to its attention in a timely manner 

as a matter of ordinary operations, so that it may satisfy its responsibility. 

258.  Defendants were required to attempt in good faith to assure that 

adequate information and reporting systems exist.  Defendants’ failure to do so 

renders them liable for losses caused by non-compliance with applicable legal 

standards.  

259. All defendants, singly and in concert, engaged in the aforesaid 

conduct in conscious disregard of their fiduciary duties to the Company, and in bad 

faith. 

260. As a direct and proximate result of the defendants’ breaches of their 

fiduciary duties of loyalty and good faith, as alleged herein, GM has sustained, and 

continues to sustain, significant damages.  As a result of these breaches, the 

defendants are liable to the Company. 
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs request entry of an order as follows: 

A. Determining that this action is a proper derivative action, 

Plaintiffs are adequate representatives on the Company’s behalf, and that demand 

is excused; 

B. Determining that the Director Defendants have breached their 

fiduciary duties to GM or aided and abetted the breach of fiduciary duty by others; 

C. Declaring that the Director Defendants are obligated to 

indemnify and hold GM harmless from any fines, penalties, judgment, settlement, 

or award pursuant to the governmental investigations or any of the class actions 

pending or to be filed against GM or its employees or agents arising out of the 

breaches of duty and wrongdoing alleged herein; 

D. Awarding GM the damages it sustained due to the violations 

alleged herein from each of the defendants jointly and severally; 

E. Requiring GM and its Board, by means of a permanent 

injunction, to enact and maintain a sufficient risk management system, including, 

but not limited to, the measures outlined below; 

F. Directing the Board to take all necessary actions to reform and 

improve its corporate governance, including but not limited to: 
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1. Separating the positions of CRO and GA;  

(a) The CRO shall have no other job except to act as 

CRO;   

(b)  The CRO shall report to the Risk Committee on a 

direct basis, and have a dotted line reporting relationship with the 

CEO and the Audit Committee; 

(c) The CRO shall immediately report to the Risk 

Committee any notice received of a possible defect(s) or of possible 

punitive damages exposure; and 

(d) The CRO shall be directed by the Board to identify 

and implement “best practices” as to ERM. 

2. The Board shall maintain a “stand alone” Risk 

Committee, whose charter duties solely focus on oversight of risk systems 

and ERM.  As to that Risk Committee: 

(a) The designated directors who serve on such 

committee shall be independent directors; 

(b) The Risk Committee shall have the ability, without 

limitation, to retain experts and legal counsel; and 
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(c) The director members of the Risk Committee shall 

be persons with experience in ERM, or will undertake training in 

ERM; and 

3. The Legal Department shall designate the General 

Counsel or the Assistant General Counsel as “risk owner” within GM’s 

ERM system as to legal matters.  The Legal Department’s ERM System: 

(a) Shall require all attorneys to report to the Risk 

Owner all defects of which they become aware in the course of their 

duties.  This standard to be applied to this reporting requirement is 

that a defect be “possible” only; there is no need for certainty; 

(b) Shall require all attorneys to report to the Risk 

Owner any danger of a punitive damages verdict of which they 

become aware in the course of their duties.  This standard to be 

applied to this reporting requirement is that such a verdict be 

“possible” only; there is no need for certainty;  

(c) The Legal Department Risk Owner shall 

immediately report any information received in categories (a) and (b) 

above to the Executive Committee, the CEO and the CRO; and 



 

 99 

 

(d) The Legal Department’s risk reporting systems as 

to defects and punitive damages hall be made known to Outside 

Counsel, and Outside Counsel shall be requested to provide 

immediate notice of such possible risks to the relevant matter’s 

supervising in-house attorney. 

4. GM shall continue to maintain the new position of Vice 

President, Global Vehicle Safety (“GVS”).  The GVS: 

(a) Shall have the right to report directly to the Risk 

Committee outside the presence of management, upon request; and 

(b) Shall promulgate (and ensure the dissemination of) 

rules to be followed by engineers who become aware of possible 

defects.   

5. The CRO and VP-GVS shall be given adequate resources 

to perform his or her responsibilities.  On an annual basis, the GA will 

provide assurance to the Board as to the adequacy of these resources. 

6. The Board will institute a mandatory reporting system, 

such that any employee who becomes aware of a possible risk and fails to 

report that risk to the Risk Owner will be subject to discipline, including 
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dismissal.  All employees will be informed upon hiring and thereafter on at 

least an annual basis the identity of the Risk Officer for their department.   

7. The Risk Committee shall review, with an outside expert, 

best practices in the maintenance of whistleblower hotlines, so that 

employees can make anonymous reports without fear of retribution, and so 

that such anonymous reports are efficiently reviewed and appropriately 

handled. 

G. Awarding pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as allowed 

by law; 

H. Awarding Plaintiffs the costs and disbursements of this 

derivative action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs, and expenses; and 

 I. Granting such other and further relief as the Court deems just 

and proper.  
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Dated:  October 13, 2014    BIGGS AND BATTAGLIA 

 

/s/ Robert D. Goldberg  

      Robert D. Goldberg (ID # 631)  

      921 N. Orange Street 

P.O. Box 1489 

Wilmington, Delaware 19899 

Tel: (302) 655-9677 

Fax: (302) 655-7924 

Goldberg@batlaw.com 

 

SMITH KATZENSTEIN & JENKINS, LLP  

      David A. Jenkins (ID # 932) 

800 Delaware Avenue 

Wilmington, Delaware  19801 

(302) 652-8400 

djenkins@skjlaw.com 

 

Co-Liaison Counsel 

 

  

OF COUNSEL: 

 

ABBEY SPANIER, LLP 

Nancy Kaboolian 

212 East 39th Street 

New York, New York 10016 

Tel: (212)889-3700 

 

HARWOOD FEFFER LLP 

Robert I. Harwood 

Daniella Quitt 

Samuel K. Rosen 

488 Madison Avenue 

New York, New York 10022 

Tel: (212)935-7400 
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KANTROWITZ, GOLDHAMER & GRAIFMAN, P.C. 

Gary S. Graifman  

Michael L. Braunstein 

747 Chestnut Ridge Road, Suite 200 

Chestnut Ridge, New York 10977 

Tel: (845) 356-2570 

 

MORGAN & MORGAN, P.C. 

Peter Safirstein 

Domenico Minerva (#5125) 

Elizabeth Metcalf 

28 West 44th Street, Suite 2001 

New York, New York 10036 

Tel: (212) 564-1637  

 

Co-Lead Counsel      
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